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Federal M ne Safety and Health Review Commi ssion (FMS. HRC)
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

SECRETARY OF LABOR Cvil Penalty Proceedi ng
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. BARB 78-494-P
PETI TI ONER A. O No. 14-02502-02020V
V. No. 18 M ne

SHAMROCK COAL COVPANY,
RESPONDENT

DECI SI ON

Appear ances: John H O Donnell, Attorney, Ofice of the Solicitor
U S. Departnent of Labor, for Petitioner
Neville Smith, Attorney, Mnchester, Kentucky, for
Respondent

Before: Judge Littlefield
I ntroduction

This is a proceeding for assessnment of a civil penalty
agai nst the Respondent and is governed by section 110(a) of the
Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977 (1977 Act), P.L.
95-164 (Novenber 9, 1977), and section 109(a)(1l) of the Federa
Coal M ne Health and Safety Act of 1969 (1969 Act), P.L. 91-173
(Decenber 30, 1969). Section 110(a) provides as follows:

The operator of a coal or other mine in which a

vi ol ation occurs of a mandatory health or safety
standard or who violates any other provision of this
Act, shall be assessed a civil penalty by the Secretary
whi ch penalty shall not be nore than $10,000 for each
such violation. Each occurrence of a violation of a
mandatory health or safety standard nmay constitute a
separ at e of f ense.

Section 109(a) (1) provides as foll ows:

The operator of a coal mne in which a violation occurs
of a mandatory health or safety standard or who

vi ol ates any other provision of this Act, except the
provisions of title 4, shall be assessed a civil
penalty by the Secretary under paragraph (3) of this
subsecti on which penalty shall not be nobre than $10, 000
for each such violation. Each occurrence of a
violation of a
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separate offense. In determ ning the amount of the penalty, the
Secretary shall consider the operator's history of previous
vi ol ati ons, the appropriateness of such penalty to the size of
t he busi ness of the operator charged, whether the operator was
negligent, the effect on the operator's ability to continue in
busi ness, the gravity of the violation, and the denonstrated good
faith of the operator charged in attenpting to achieve rapid
conpliance after notification of a violation

Petition

On June 23, 1978, the Mne Safety and Health Adm nistration
(MSHA) , (FOOTNOTE 1) through its attorney, filed a petition for
assessnment of a civil penalty charging one violation of the Act
as follows:

O der No. Dat e 30 CFR St andard

7-0132 11/01/ 77 75. 329

Answer

On July 21, 1978, Respondent, Shanrock Coal Conpany, filed a
detail ed answer thereto, which denied the allegation and
requested a hearing thereon
Tri bunal

A hearing was held on Wednesday, February 14, 1979, in
Knoxvill e, Tennessee. Both MSHA and Shanrock Coal Company
(Shanmrock) were represented by counsel. Posthearing briefs were
filed by both parties.
Evi dence

1. Stipulations

The follow ng stipulations were entered:

(a) The proceeding is governed by the 1969 Act and 1977 Act
(Tr. 6).

(b) The Judge has jurisdiction (Tr. 6).

(c) Shanrock is the operator of the No. 18 Mne and is
subject to the Acts' jurisdiction (Tr. 6).
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(d) The No. 18 Mne currently enploys 262 people (Tr. 7).

(e) The total production of Shanrock for 1977 was 1.3
mllion tons. The total production for the controlling
interested party, M. B. Ray Thonpson, was 1.4 nmillion tons in
1977 and projected to be 1.5 mllion tons in 1978 (Tr. 7).

(f) The ability of Respondent to stay in business will not
be affected by any civil penalty assessed in this matter (Tr. 7).

(g) The inspectors who issued the notices and orders herein
at issue were duly authorized representatives of the Secretary
(DAR) (Tr. 7-8).

(h) Copies of the notices and orders which are the subject
of the hearing were properly served on a representative of the
operator (Tr. 8).

(i) The No. 1 mne's previous history of violation is as
follows: January 1, 1970 through April 8, 1974, 113 viol ati ons,
$6, 623 penalty paid; January 1, 1970, through May 1, 1977, 249
viol ations, $17,117 penalty paid (Tr. 8).

2. Testinony
A.  Mchael F. Detherage

MSHA initiated its case through the testinony of M.
Det herage, the DAR who issued the 104(c)(2) order herein at issue
(Tr. 9-15). The inspector has been a DAR since 1975 (Tr. 11-12).
Previ ously, he had worked in Sout heastern Kentucky during his
apprentice period (Tr. 12). He had been certified as an
el ectrician by the Federal Governnent but was not certified as a
foreman by any jurisdiction (Tr. 13-14). He identified
Governnent Exhibit No. 99 as Order No. 1 MFD, herein at issue, as
served on M. Charles L. Rice, superintendent of the mne (Tr.
15; CGovt. Exh. No. 99).

The order charges Respondent with the failure to establish a
bl eeder systemfor a panel in the F section of the mne (Tr.
16-17). There were, however, other bleeders in this active
wor ki ng section (Tr. 17). The area was not sealed (Tr. 18). The
systemthat they had previously been follow ng had invol ved
cutting across a previously nmned set of roons |eaving a path for
ventilation (Tr. 19). They mined out the pillars with a
continuous mner (Tr. 18). They were doing nothing in lieu of
this system (Tr. 19-20). The required ventilation was 9,000 cfm
in the |last open crosscut. This was conplied with (Tr. 20).

Smal | anmobunts of nethane were rel eased at the mne (Tr. 21).
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He testified there was a ventilation system however, according
to him there was no bleeding for the area that had been pillared
(Tr. 21). He concluded that there had been an unwarrantabl e
failure because there could have been a buil dup of nethane and an
ignition (Tr. 21-22). The inspector understood "unwarrantabl e”
as neani ng that the operator knew or should have known of the
violation (Tr. 22). The operator knew of the violation because
it was working in the area every day and the operator turned a
map into the district office that showed the crosscuts to the old
wor ks had been left out (Tr. 23).

This left-out area was brought to the attention of the
i nspector by soneone in the district office (Tr. 23). One of the
reasons he went to the mine was to investigate conditions
seem ngly appearing on the district office map (Tr. 23). He
could not enter the area because it had been pillared out and
fallen (Tr. 23). Therefore, all he could rely on was the
af orementi oned map (Tr. 24).

On Novenber 2, 1977, the next day, he issued a termination
of the order (Tr. 25; Govt. Exh. No. 100). It was issued because
there were two bl eeders cut across to the righthand fromthe
pl ace fromwhich they were mning (Tr. 25). The operator
denonstrated good faith in affecting rapid conpliance (Tr.

25-26).

The inspector is 30 years old and has had no experience in
operation managenent or control of the general practices of
mning (Tr. 26A).

Though he did not remenber whether he prepared the
wi t hdrawal order before he arrived at the mne, he did know he
was going to prepare it based on the map (Tr. 27-28). Testinony
with respect to the district office map was accepted into
evi dence over Respondent's objection, however, no ruling as to
probative value was nmade at that tinme and this fact will be
addressed here (Tr. 33). The map was never introduced. The map
it was alleged, was not presented by counsel for MSHA because the
i nspector who possessed it was part of another case which had
been resolved (Tr. 31).

Respondent's | awyer averred that he did not know that
Shanrock al so | acked a copy of the map (Tr. 31-32).

At the office, prior to the inspection, Messrs. Ken D xon
and Larry Lang went over the map and showed | nspector Detherage
t he deficiency and suggested that the inspector take action as
the condition was dangerous (Tr. 34).

M. Lang had had a di sagreenent with an enpl oyee of Shanrock
Coal Conpany (Tr. 34). The order was issued on the suggestion of
M. Lang and M. Dixon (Tr. 34-35).
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M. Detherage nmade no attenpt to observe the actual condition as
it was inpossible to get into the area to check it out (Tr. 35),
therefore, the only source of information with reference to the
violation was on the map submitted (Tr. 36-37).

In May of 1977, M. Detherage and M. Lang had previously
witten an order of this type (Tr. 38), however, the inspector
had never been in this particular set of roons, though he was a
regul ar MSHA i nspector.

According to the map, with respect to other panels, Shanrock
was establishing a bl eeder system (Tr. 39). The .01 of 1 percent
of nethane that was found at the mine was not found in the F
section (Tr. 40-41). The mine was approximately 7 square mles
and the sanmpl e showi ng nmet hane had been taken nore than a mle
away fromthe F section, at the fan (Tr. 42).

The witness believed that there woul d have been the
possibility of an ignition (Tr. 45). There also could possibly
have been a nethane buildup (Tr. 46). He failed to bring the map
because nobody told himto bring it (Tr. 49). He further
testified that the map for which the order was issued, showed a
set of roons that was stopped. He was unable to testify which of
two separate panels the order referred to (Tr. 52). The map used
herein did not purport to show the pillar recovery system (Tr.
53). Said map was provi ded by Respondent and was submitted for
the ventilation plan (Tr. 54).

M. Detherage did not remenber checking the map posted at
the m ne on Novenber 1, 1977, which was the nost up-to-date map
i ncl udi ng prescribed changes (Tr. 59).

I nspect or Detherage attenpted to sketch the panels invol ved,
but stated that there was no way that the absence of a bl eeder
could be observed (Tr. 63), nor would a snoke tube test be
concl usive on the subject (Tr. 64).

In agai n discussing the mssing map, M. Detherage stated
that he thought inspector Al bert F. MFarl and was supposed to
have had it, however he did not knowif M. MFarland had
actually found it (Tr. 65).

The sketch drawn by | nspector Detherage was acceppted into
the record, over Respondent's objection, however, no ruling as to
probative val ue was nade at that time (Tr. 66; Govt. Exh. No.
99A) .

B. Gordon Couch
Respondent initiated its case through the testi nony of

Gordon Couch, who has worked at Shanrock as conpany safety
i nspector since



~498

August of 1977 (Tr. 76). He has worked in mning for about 20
years (Tr. 73). Previously, he had worked as a mne forenman and
had been a Federal mne inspector (DAR) since 1970 (Tr. 74). He
had becanme a coal m ne inspector supervisor in 1975 at the

subdi strict office in Barbourville until August of 1977 (Tr.
75-76). The order at issue was issued after he went to work for
Shanrock (Tr. 77).

He testified based on what he personally observed of bl eeder
systens at Shanrock (Tr. 78). The map upon whi ch the order was
based was subnmitted to MSHA as part of an effort to get a
ventilation plan approved (Tr. 79), however, the map was not
returned to Shanrock (Tr. 79-80).

The wi tness renenbered the bl eeder system because a road had
sunk in the area of the panels in question (Tr. 81). He knew
they had a bl eeder system because they cut in two places (Tr.

81). The bl eeder had been established at the tine the order was
i ssued (Tr. 82).

The reason that he knew the bl eeders had been established
before the order was issued is that this area at issue is two
panel s behi nd where a continuous m ner had been covered up and
renoved fromthe surface (Tr. 83). Several nountain breaks were
bet ween the covered continuous m ner panel and the panel at
i ssue. They had several bl eeders where the surface had slid in
(Tr. 83-84).

The map, which had to be kept up-to-date at the nmne, did
reflect the bl eeder system (Tr. 84-85). The w tness believed
that any violation was on the map, not in the mne, however, to
hi s know edge there was no violation on the map submitted (Tr.
86) .

M. Couch testified as to the description of the bl eeders
(Tr. 90-94). He further testified that no nmethane was being
rel eased by the F section as shown by an MSHA report of My
16-31, 1978 (Tr. 94-98). However, it probably would not show the
situation in Novenmber 1977 (Tr. 99).

The witness believed that the map submitted did not reflect
t he bl eeder system because they were not pillaring at the tine
(Tr. 101). He thought that they were in the devel opnent process
(Tr. 101).

C. John Henry Sizenore

Respondent' s second wi tness was John Henry Sizenore, genera
m ne foreman at the mne (Tr. 105-106). He stated that the area
in question was provided with a bl eeder system whi ch was adequate
and proper (Tr. 107, 112).
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M. Det herage brought the violation with himfromthe
Barbourville office and laid it on M. Sizenore's desk. He never
went to check the bl eeder systemand did not take a snoke tube
test and did not check an outcrop (Tr. 108).

VWere the road coll apsed as referred to, supra, they had to
pl ace a 2-inch plastic pipe to retain the integrity of the
bl eeder system (Tr. 110-111), however, he believed the pipe was
added after the violation was witten (Tr. 172).

M. Sizenore never detected nethane fromthe section (Tr.
116).

| ssues Present ed

1. Wether Order No. 1 MFD, Novenber 1, 1977, recites a
violation of 30 CFR 75. 329.

2. Assuming that a violation has been established, what is
the appropriate penalty to be inposed?

Di scussi on
A, Ceneral

The standard herein at issue provides as follows:
Bl eeder Systens

On or before Decenber 30, 1970, all areas from which
pillars have been wholly or partially extracted and
abandoned areas as determined by the Secretary or his
aut hori zed representative, shall be ventilated by

bl eeder entries or by bl eeder systens or equival ent
means, or be seal ed, as determ ned by the Secretary or
his authorized representative. Wen ventilation of
such areas is required, such ventilation shall be

mai nt ai ned so as continuously to dilute, render

harm ess, and carry away methane and ot her expl osive
gases within such areas and to protect the active
wor ki ngs of the mine fromthe hazards of such net hane
and ot her expl osive gases. Air coursed through
underground areas fromwhich pillars have been wholly
or partially extracted which enters another split of
air shall not contain nore than 2.0 vol une per centum
of methane, when tested at the point it enters such
other split. \When sealing is required, such seals
shall be made in an approved manner so as to isolate
wi t h expl osi on- proof bul kheads such areas fromthe
active workings of the m ne.

Two aspects of proof have been put in contest by the
litigants with respect to the existence of a violation
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The first issue is whether MSHA has established a prina-facie
case in denmonstrating the existence of a violation on Novenber 1,
1977. The question presented is whether the best-evidence rule
is properly invoked by Respondent to bar the testinony of
I nspector Detherage with reference to the ventilation map
forwarded to the Barbourville office.

The second issue, on the nerits, is whether, assum ng MSHA
has established its prinma-facie case, the testinony of
Respondent's wi tnesses M. Couch and M. Sizenore, successfully
rebuts the Petitioner's show ng.

B. Best Evidence

The best evidence rul e has been defined as requiring that
"in proving the ternms of a witing, where the terns are materi al
the original witing must be produced unless it is shown to be
unavail abl e for sonme reason other than a serious fault of the
proponent." MCorm ck on Evidence, 0230 (2nd ed., 1972). The
rule has been limted to legally operative docunents. See Id. at
[M233- 23

The map in question is clearly a legally operative docunent
as I nspector Detherage testified that he did not inspect the
m ne, but issued the order based on the map (Tr. 24, 27-28,
36-37).

The issue, of whether the map is a witing within the
meani ng of the rule, nust give greater pause. It has been
suggested that the limtation of the rule to witings rests on
the principle that witings exhibit a finess of detail generally

lacking in other chattels. Id. at [0232. The rationale
prohibiting alternative adnmi ssion is the protection of this
detail. See id. Mddern coment has suggested that a judge

shoul d have the discretion to apply the rule to other chattels in
light of the need for precision, the ease and difficulty of
production, and the sinplicity or conplexity of the inscription.
Id.; 4 Wgnore, Evidence, 01182 (1972); cf. United States v.
Duffy, 454 F.2d 809 (5th Gr. 1972) (shirt with three-letter

[ aundry mark not required for testinmony on mark). In the Judge's
view, the exercise of discretion should also rely on the quality
and nature of the proferred secondary evi dence, see MCorm ck, at
[m231, 23

The proponent explained the failure of production on three
grounds: (1) the inspector who possessed the map was a part of
anot her case which had earlier been resolved, therefore, the
i nspector was no |onger avail able, as he had left the hearing
room (Tr. 31), (2) Inspector Detherage's testinony that he did
not bring the map because nobody told himto bring it (Tr. 49),
and (3) Inspector Detherage's testinony that he did not know
whet her | nspector MFarl and, who was supposed to have brought the
map, had actually found it (Tr. 65). dearly, MSHA has not
presented a case of dire necessity for the production of its
secondary evi dence
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Further, though these explanations could rationalize the failure
to introduce the original map, they do not serve as adequate to
justify the failure to introduce a copy of that map. Nor has
MSHA attenpted to explain this failure (Brief of MSHA, pp. 2-4).
The void created by the absence of the map is purportedly filled
by testimony of I|nspector Detherage and a sketch nade during the
hearing in support of his testinony (Govt. Exh. No. 99A).

The inspector testified that he had never been in this
particul ar set of roonms, though he was the regular MSHA i nspector
for the mne (Tr. 38). Further, when shown a map, the inspector
was unable to state which set of roons, as between two separate
panel s, were involved in the alleged violation (Tr. 52). Further
I nspect or Det herage had not originally identified the all eged
deficiency on the submtted map. MSHA enpl oyees Di xon and Lang
had identified it at the Barbourville office (Tr. 34), and
recommended action (Tr. 34). | conclude that the probative val ue
to be given Inspector Detherage's testinmony is of de m ninus
val ue on the subject of the contents of the map on which this
al | eged viol ati on was based.

Therefore, as there is obviously a need for precision, there
was no apparent difficulty of production, the map's inscriptions
are relatively conplex, and the proffered secondary evidence is
i nherently and in actuality, unreliable as to the crucial issue
of which panels were alleged to be in violation (Tr. 52), |
concl ude that no probative value will be given the testinony of
I nspect or Detherage with respect to the district office map, as
it fails to neet the requirenents of the best-evidence rule. The
noti on of Respondent to strike said testinony will be granted.
Wthout said testinony, MSHA has failed to establish a
prima-facie case for the existence of the violation.

C. Merits

Assum ng, arguendo, that the testinony of Inspector
Det herage were admi ssible, MSHA has still failed to preponderate.
The inspector introduced no evidence that pillar recovery had
been initiated when the map was submitted. The regul ation, by
its terns, is not effective until the process has at |east
begun. (FOOTNOTE 2) 30 CFR 75.329. It was M. Couch's opinion that the
map at issue, if it did not show a bl eeder system did not show
one because the operator had not started pillaring (Tr. 101).
Therefore, even if MSHA had introduced the map, it could very
wel | be that there woul d have been no viol ati on established.

As noted, supra, Inspector Detherage had not seen the panels
(Tr. 38) or checked the up-to-date map at the mine (Tr. 59) which
woul d al | egedly have reflected the system (Tr. 84-85).
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On the other hand, M. Couch stated that he had personally
observed the bl eeder system (Tr. 78). He renenbered this
particul ar one because a continuous m ner had covered two panels
behind this panel (Tr. 83). M. Sizenore and M. Couch testified
that they remenbered this bl eeder because of a road coll apse
which affected it (Tr. 110-111; 78-83).

Wei ghi ng the personal observations of Respondent’'s w t nesses
backed by detail ed explanations in support of their nenories
agai nst the testinony of the inspector who could not remenber
fromthe map on which the violation was based, which panel was
i nvol ved, | conclude that Petitioner has failed to preponderate.

Fi ndi ngs of Fact
Upon consi deration of the record as a whole, | find:

1. The Judge has jurisdiction over the subject matter and
the parties in this proceeding.

2. A bleeder systemsufficient to conply with 30 CFR 75. 329
did exist at the Shanrock No. 18 M ne on Novenber 1, 1977.

3. The inspector did not inspect the mne, but issued the
order based on the district-office map that was not offered into
evi dence.

4. The inspector neither saw the panels involved nor
checked the up-to-date map at the mne

5. The accunul ated probative evidence fails to establish
the fact of a violation cited above.

Concl usi ons of Law

1. This case arises under the provisions of sections 110(a)
of the 1977 Act and 109(a) (1) of the 1969 Act.

2. Al procedural prerequisites established in the statutes
cited above have been conplied wth.

3. Testinony by Inspector Detherage with reference to the
map upon which this order was issued is given no probative val ue
and is struck for failure to conmply with the best evidence rule.

4. Exhibit No. 99A is given no probative value and is
struck for failure to conply with the best evidence rule.

5. The Governnent has failed to establish a violation of
either 30 CFR 75.329 or the Act.
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CORDER

WHEREFORE t he above-captioned is DI SM SSED.

Mal colm P. Littlefield
Judge
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTES START HERE
~FOOTNOTE_ONE
1. Successor-in-interest to the Mning Enforcenent and Safety
Admi ni stration (MESA).

~FOOTNOTE_TWD
2. | express no opinion as to whether the regulation requires
bl eeders to be in place during or after recovery.



